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Our Objects 

 

Our charitable objects are to support children with physical and/or cognitive disabilities, whether caused by 

brain injury like cerebral palsy; a genetic condition like Down’s syndrome, autism, or general developmental 

delay, by the provision and promotion of therapy.  Brainwave works with families to deliver home based therapy 

and exercise programmes tailored to each child to help them to achieve their fullest potential.  That potential 

could be anything from a child walking or feeding themselves, to counting or forming sentences. We employ a 

range of experienced specialist staff, including occupational therapists, physiotherapists, speech and language 

therapists and educational therapists, enabling us to take a holistic approach to seeking what is possible for each 

individual child.  

 

We summarise this as: 

 

- helping children with disabilities and additional needs to achieve greater independence, and 

 

- aiming to improve mobility, communication skills, and learning potential, through a range of educational 

and physical therapies. 

 

Our Vision 
 

Our Vision is that all children in the UK with the above conditions should have the opportunity to reach their 

potential and benefit from appropriate therapy to help them, and that Brainwave should be recognised as 

leading in this field. 

 

Our Mission 
 

We will deliver therapy of the highest quality to an increasing number of children each year and make it as easy 

as possible for children to benefit from the therapy through qualified and motivated staff at our permanent 

centres and satellite clinics, and through our team of Family Facilitators. 

 

Our Aims 

 

We are committed to: 

 

Best practice Maintaining research and professional development for staff, including benchmarking 

against other providers to provide appropriate therapy of the highest quality. 

 

Therapy delivery Continuing to increase the number of children helped each year, and to respond 

proactively to the changing needs of families. 

 

Access Opening centres and clinics at appropriate intervals and locations to make therapy 

available more locally to families throughout the UK. 

 

Sustainability  Establishing streams of fundraising to enable therapy provision to be provided in a stable 

business environment. 

 

Managing the business in a cost effective manner, so as to increase year on year the 

proportion of fundraising income that is applied to our charitable objectives. 

 

Our Values 

 

In all aspects of our work and activities, with everyone associated with the Charity, we strive to be: professional, 

open, friendly, enabling, respectful, and passionate.  
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Chairman’s Statement 

I am pleased to report on another busy year for Brainwave.  This year we have been able to help 720 children, 

many of whom have made substantial progress towards reaching their potential and overcoming some of their 

disability.  During 2016 we saw 155 children for initial assessment, 28 more than in 2015, and saw 565 children 

for reassessment, an increase of 38.  Children have sat, stood, crawled, walked and spoken words for the first 

time and most will have improved their health and wellbeing in some way.  The children work very hard with 

their parents to reach what are often quite challenging goals.  We recognised their progress by awarding 327 

Certificates of Achievement during the year. 

One parent said “10 years ago when we first visited Brainwave our son could sit but couldn't crawl, walk, eat 

or speak. He can do all these things thanks to Brainwave and his quality of life is so wonderful compared to the 

bleak outlook we were initially given. We can never thank all the staff at Brainwave enough. It is life changing.” 

Because of the skills and large experience of our therapy teams we can work with children with a wide variety 

of conditions, some of which are quite rare, although we primarily work with children with cerebral palsy, 

developmental delay in its many forms, Down’s syndrome and children on the autistic spectrum.  In 2017 we 

plan to recruit further specialist and experienced therapists across a range of disciplines, including speech and 

language and occupational therapy, in order to meet the expected demand from families thus keeping waiting 

times to a minimum.  We will also continue to offer relevant professional development training and invest in 

state of the art resources to ensure our therapy provision is of the very highest standard.  This includes a BTS G-

Walk and Footscan, which will be made available from February 2017.   

Demand is increasing at our 3 main centres in Bridgwater, Witham and Warrington, and also at our satellite 

clinics in Scotland and London.  During 2016 we operated a satellite clinic in central London for the very first 

time and we are grateful for the generous funding that was provided by Otkritie Capital International Ltd.  The 

clinics in London proved to be a great success and with the support of Otkritie we will repeat the clinics in 2017. 

Brainwave is entirely reliant on private funding and does not receive state funding.  We have three main sources 

of income: general fundraising, family Trusts and profits from our charity shops.  I am pleased to report that the 

fundraising teams achieved a net voluntary income of £696,591, an increase of 0.7% over 2015.  This means 

that 51p in every pound donated was applied to charitable purposes.  However, our two other main sources of 

income were not as successful as they have been in previous years.  Family Trusts income suffered from a 

difficult investment environment and had less money to distribute to organisations such as ours.  As a result, 

income from this source fell by 14.7%.   

Our 26 charity shops in the South West also faced a number of difficult challenges during 2016 mainly because 

of the economic situation in the retail industry.  The net profit of the charity shops was £224,636, which 

represents a significant fall in net profit compared to 2015.  The profit ratio of 16p in each pound of sales was 

also down on the previous year.   

During the year we were delighted to announce that Lord and Lady Fellowes had agreed to become Patrons of 

the Charity.  The Fellowes have supported the Charity’s fundraising efforts during 2015 and 2016 and following 

a visit to the therapy centre in Somerset, where they met a number of families, we were delighted that they 

accepted our offer to become Patrons of Brainwave. 

Brainwave can only operate because of our dedicated staff and over 700 volunteers, our Guardians and the many 

individuals, organisations, Trusts and businesses who support us.  My fellow Trustees and I thank them on 

behalf of the children and their families who were helped in 2016, and the children yet to reach Brainwave who 

will benefit from their skills and your generosity.  

At the end of the year, Elaine Kelly indicated that she needed to step down from her role as Trustee due to the 

pressures of work. I would like to place on record my thanks to Elaine for her contribution to Brainwave during 

her time as a Trustee. We will miss her enthusiasm and analytical skills and wish her well for the future.  

I must also thank our President, HRH The Countess of Wessex GCVO, our Vice Presidents, Patrons and my 

fellow Trustees for their continuing commitment and support in helping the children and families on programme 

whose needs are at the centre of everything we do.   

 

Martin Jackson, FCA, Chairman 
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The Board of Trustees present their report together with the financial statements of The Brainwave 

Centre Limited for the year ended 30 November 2016.  
 

 

OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES 

 

Brainwave works with children who have cerebral palsy, developmental delay in its many forms, Down’s 

syndrome and chromosome abnormality, and strives to make therapy available to all children throughout 

the UK. 

 

Since its foundation in 1982, Brainwave has worked with families to deliver individual home based therapy and 

exercise programmes that help children with disabilities and developmental delay to achieve their full potential. 

The children have a range of conditions including autism, brain injuries such as cerebral palsy and genetic 

conditions (eg Down’s syndrome). 

 

Families often come to Brainwave when they have exhausted all other options, as they are looking to obtain 

support so that they can help their child achieve their full potential.  At Brainwave we are fortunate to have the 

time and facilities to give every parent the very best opportunity to learn the skills required to do this.  Our 

response to parents is always positive - we work with them to see what can be achieved and focus on what the 

child can do, not what they can’t. 

 

The Charity principally supports children between the ages of 6 months and 12 years.  We employ a range of 

experienced therapists including physiotherapists, occupational therapists, speech and language therapists and 

educational therapists, enabling us to take a holistic approach.  Our input is based upon the principles of 

neuroplasticity, which is defined as the ability in the brain to reorganise and develop new neural pathways, by 

providing regular repetition of newly acquired skills, covering physical, educational and social abilities. 

 

Whilst our therapy team has the skills, it is undoubtedly the parents who have the dedication, love and 

commitment, which no other carer can match.  Families are invited to one of the centres, where their child is 

assessed in a relaxed, friendly and caring environment.  This initial assessment is held over two days and 

provides time for us to understand the child, their current abilities and what goals might be achieved.  It also 

gives us time to gain awareness of the needs of the entire family, assisting parents and carers to know more 

about their child and his or her difficulties.  We also like to get the child’s siblings involved if we are able.  

Following assessment, a programme of exercises is then designed by the therapy team to meet each child’s 

individual needs. 

 

Parents and carers are taught how to carry out the programme, giving them the skills so that they can undertake 

each exercise at home.  This provides a structured and stimulating framework within which the child may excel 

and reach their full potential.  This could be anything from sitting independently or walking, to recognising 

numbers or feeding themselves, or indeed being able to form sentences. 

 

Depending on the needs of the child, families are invited back for reassessment every four to six months.  This 

enables us to review the progress that the child has made and adjust the therapy programme as necessary.  

 

We record each therapy programme onto DVD which is then given to the family as a visual reference when they 

return home.  We also provide essential therapy aids that are required to carry out the programme, including 

therapy balls, rolls, wedges, vestibular boards and, where appropriate, computer software for PC based cognitive 

programmes.  To give reassurance and support, the child’s assigned therapists are always available for the 

families to talk to between assessments.  The therapy programme provides a combination of structured play and 

formal exercise which, when carried out on a regular basis, can provide exceptional results.  Specific 

developmental areas are identified for each child, such as visual cognition, hearing and comprehension, 

movement, speech, hand function, self-help and socialisation, but in essence our approach is a holistic one.  A 

significant majority of the children following the programme make measurable progress and some achieve a 

degree of independence that is well beyond their family’s initial expectations.  Each time a child achieves a 

milestone in development we issue a certificate of achievement which recognises the hard work and 

commitment of the family and helps motivate them to achieve more.  
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We provide families with some additional telephone support through our two family facilitators.  Their work 

plays a key part in ensuring that every family receives the most appropriate reception on their first visit, and that 

families are supported throughout their time on programme with Brainwave.  

 

Prior to each initial assessment, contact is made to fully appraise the parents of the Brainwave Programme and 

the facilities which will be found at the respective centre when the family arrives.  This is done by one of our 

regional family facilitators or a therapist.  Subsequent to the initial assessment, there is follow up 

communication to monitor progress and provide additional support for the family. 

 

Every family is now in contact with a family facilitator to help support and motivate the family.  By keeping in 

contact with families, the facilitators can provide feedback to the therapy team and highlight any difficulties 

that may arise.  The facilitators also help in providing peer support and, where they can, will put families in 

contact with other groups and organisations that might be able to help.  This helps to reduce the feelings of 

isolation and frustration that some of our families experience.  Wherever possible, we try not to duplicate the 

work of other organisations, preferring to act as a partner and/or conduit.  The facilitators also produce an annual 

newsletter that provides useful contacts and tips for families 

 

Brainwave’s service provision is driven by parents’ and carers’ needs, by research that informs best practice, 

and by the financial resources available.  Over 90% of families who have been on a Brainwave Programme say 

that we have made a difference to their child and, as a consequence, a substantial number of children now lead 

more independent lives. 

 

The Charity relies totally on voluntary donations from the public, companies and Trusts, together with 

contributions from families, carers and other service users, to fund its work.  No monies are received from the 

NHS or other statutory bodies. 

 

 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION 

 

Brainwave’s medium term target is that over 770 children will be following a Brainwave Programme 

across the three UK centres.  This will mean that during the course of any year, around 900 children will 

have been helped. 

 

To support this, the three year plan agreed by the Trustees sets out the following strategic aims: 

 

� Engage proactively with the NHS, in particular with those departments and staff who are also supporting 

children following a Brainwave Programme. 

 

�  Increase the amount of partnership and cooperative working with third parties in order to increase the 

help given to families on programme. 

 

�  Seek to provide additional satellite clinics to make further progress towards our target of all children 

being able to receive an assessment within 200 miles of home. 

 

�  Improve children’s outcomes by improving support to our parent and carer intermediaries. 

 

�  Build on our fundraising streams to provide a higher level of unrestricted income, at an improved cost 

ratio. 

 

With the three existing centres, we already have the capacity for 800 children.  However the current financial 

climate is constricting growth.  Our target of 770 children on programme depends on achieving higher levels of 

income in order to recruit the requisite numbers of therapy staff.  

 

Longer term, it remains our aspiration that all children throughout the UK with a brain injury, genetic condition 

or developmental delay will be within a 200 mile radius of one of our centres. 
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PUBLIC BENEFIT STATEMENT 

 

The Trustees confirm that they have complied with the duty in Section 4 of the Charities Act 2011 to have due 

regard to the Charity Commission’s general guidance on public benefit, ‘Charities and Public Benefit’. 

 

Brainwave’s charitable purpose is ‘to support children with physical and/or cognitive disabilities, whether 

caused by brain injury like cerebral palsy, a genetic condition like Down’s syndrome, autism or general 

developmental delay by the provision and promotion of therapy’.  The Trustees ensure that this purpose is 

carried out for the public benefit by: 

 

• Fundraising to subsidise the costs of therapy by around 80%, so that the fees charged to families are 

only 20% of the total cost.  In addition, fundraising is undertaken to be able to offer additional financial 

support for the remaining 20% of the costs, to be given to those in need, so that no families are denied 

therapy because of inability to pay.  Over 80% of families receive some degree of extra support towards 

their fees. 

 

• Providing centres and clinics in the UK accessible to families from a wide geographical area, who can 

then access the therapy provision with the minimum of travelling. In addition, telephone support from 

family facilitators is provided to assist the families. 

 

• Recruit well qualified staff, both clinical staff with paediatric experience and general staff, with ongoing 

internal and external training to ensure that therapy is of the highest standard and that the operations are 

run effectively.  

 

• Ongoing review of all aspects of the provision, including feedback from client families, to ensure that 

client needs are being met. 

 

• Collection of quantitative and qualitative evidence (length of time on programme, reasons for leaving 

programme, individual achievements of children, etc) to ensure that the therapy programmes are 

actually delivering benefit to the children. 

 

These areas are commented on in further detail elsewhere in the Trustees’ Report. 

 

 

PRINCIPAL ACHIEVEMENTS IN THE YEAR 

 

Therapy 

 

Our charitable activities comprise the design, provision and promotion of individual therapy and 

exercise programmes delivered through our centres in Somerset, Essex and Cheshire, and our satellite 

clinics in London and Scotland.  The London clinics were a new initiative in 2016.  At the end of the 

year, 584 children were benefiting from a Brainwave Programme.  Charitable spending in the year 

totalled £1,319,645.   

 

The South West Centre, in Bridgwater, Somerset, has four therapy rooms, a multi-sensory room, an IT suite, a 

sensory garden, a well-equipped hydrotherapy pool and five comfortable self-catering bungalows for use by 

families attending the centre.  There is a team of eight therapists, covering physiotherapy, educational and 

developmental specialisms.  Carl Puzey, Head of Therapy, is also based in the South West, and the bulk of the 

general administrative functions of the Charity are also conducted from this centre.  Tragically in October 2016 

one of our long serving therapists, Heidi Hopley, passed away suddenly.  Heidi was extremely popular with 

both families and colleagues alike and is sadly missed.  

 

The South East Centre in Witham, Essex, which was opened in February 2007, provides two therapy rooms, and 

a multi-sensory room.  The team now comprises two physiotherapists, two occupational therapists and a speech 

and language therapist. 
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The North West Centre in Warrington, Cheshire, which was opened in 2009, provides two therapy rooms, a 

“quiet” speech and language room, and a multi-sensory room.  There is a team of four therapists, being two 

physiotherapists, a speech and language therapist, and a therapy assistant.  An occupational therapist is being 

recruited for 2017.   

 

We were pleased that Antony LaMola has accepted promotion to the role of Centre Manager for the North West, 

and we are now close to having a full team of excellent specialist therapists at all three centres. 

 

Brainwave has operated satellite clinics in Scotland for many years and is committed to the support of children 

in Scotland.  We have done this by providing clinics for four weeks a year, which offers greater accessibility 

and flexibility for families.  In 2016 Brainwave further developed this concept with similar satellite clinics in 

central London making the service available to London families who previously found it difficult to travel to 

one of our centres.  This proved to be highly successful and will continue in 2017. 

 

The table below summarises how we have helped families in 2016: 

Initial 

Assessments Reassessments 

On 

Programme 

Nov 16 

On 

Programme 

Nov 15 

South West Centre 60 235 257 248 

South East Centre 54 153 151 132 

North West Centre 34 146 136 157 

Scottish Clinic 1 25 30 32 

London Clinic 6 6 10 - 

Total 2016 155 565 584 569 

    

Total 2015 127 527   
 

 

Overall, the Charity has provided higher numbers of assessments in 2016 than in 2015.  Families receiving a 

new diagnosis for their child will typically turn to the internet as their first point of reference for additional 

information and help.  Our new website launched in September 2016 has attracted many new families, as we 

had hoped, and the new design has ensured that families who would benefit from our services are able to 

access the information they need easily.  

 

New therapy staff were recruited in 2016 to add to the skills mix and these staff are now working very 

effectively to promote our services in the South East and North West Centres. 

 

Brainwave aims to keep waiting times to visit each centre to a reasonable level; at the end of November 2016 

this stood at four months for the South West and five months for the South East and North West Centres.  We 

have plans to recruit additional therapy staff in 2017, as funding allows, to reduce the waiting lists. 

 

 

Fundraising  

 

Voluntary Income 

 

Donations totalled £1,352,253 in 2016, up £94,454 from 2015.  Legacies were £2,500 compared with £5,500 

in 2015. 

 
Brainwave receives no statutory funding, so is very grateful to all those donors whose generous financial 

support has enabled the Charity to provide its services.  During the last five years Brainwave has been following 

a strategy to diversify its income streams, to move towards a more balanced portfolio.  This major investment in 

fundraising has included: 
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� Recruitment of additional fundraising staff  

 

� Expansion of our retail activities, including a relocation of the Retail Centre 

 

� Investment in our IT facilities, in particular a new fundraising database system  

 

The impact of this investment has helped to offset some of the challenges we have faced during a difficult 

economic climate.  The economic outlook is uncertain given the process surrounding Brexit and the geopolitical 

situation.  We therefore expect income to remain stable in 2017 as a result of our previous investments. 

   

Major supporters - 292 charitable Trusts, organisations and individuals made donations of £1,000 or more, 

during the financial year which includes 30 Guardians supporting 58 individual children. 

 
We are very grateful to all those who have supported us through the year, and in particular to Otkritie Capital 

International Ltd, who generously sponsored our new satellite clinics in London for 2016 and will do so again in 

2017.  Simplyhealth also made a very significant donation towards our ongoing costs.  Such commitment has 

enabled us to plan the future with confidence and this is very much appreciated.   

 

In addition, the following Trusts and Companies also made donations of £10,000 or more: 

 

Otkritie Capital International Limited 

LCM Wealth Management Limited 

Mr Tony De Nunzio 

Intu Lakeside 

The Wolfson Foundation 

The Elizabeth and Prince Zaiger Trust 

Global Marine Systems Limited 

Cooperative Finance and Treasury Team 

Mrs Karen Sheairs 

The Bernard Lewis Family Charity Trust 

The Clothworkers’ Foundation 

The Hermitage Trust 

ClearSky Business 

 

Guardians agree to donate an amount of £3,500 annually to sponsor individual children and again we are 

extremely grateful as we are finding more and more families are asking us for financial support.  Guardians 

provide an invaluable way to help families, as their donation covers the cost of providing a Brainwave 

Programme for the child for an entire year.  

 

Events 

 

In order to create sustainable income, Brainwave has a portfolio of annual fundraising events, largely based 

around the localities of our three centres.  These events generate gross income in excess of £300,000, and 

involve a huge number of volunteers and supporters.  We are very grateful to everyone who contributes their 

time, efforts and money to making every event a success.  We hope that, in return, they are enjoying the 

experience and sense of achievement. 

 

Major events have included: 

 

� The 7
th

 Clay Pigeon Shoot which took place in September for the first time at Colshaw Hall in Cheshire. 

With the support of the North West Development Group and our generous sponsors the Shoot was 

another outstanding success, with 30 teams taking part, and raised more than £30,000.   

 

� The Hoedown Showdown Shoot event in Cheshire raised over £9,000 in March. 
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� The Duck Race was held on Good Friday at Spinningfields in Manchester, raising in excess of £20,000 

for Brainwave.  We are extremely grateful for the support of Allied London and New Bailey in enabling 

us to put on such a large event, and to our main sponsor, Bathroom Takeaway. 

 

� A 007 Ball in November at the Mere Golf Resort and Spa, near Knutsford in Cheshire, sponsored for the 

evening by ClearSky Accounting and Birchwood Shopping Centre.  More than 250 guests enjoyed an 

evening of dining and music and the event raised an incredible £83,000 for Brainwave.  

 

� A Golf Day at Lymm Golf Club raised £7,000. 

� A Santa Dash sponsored by Birchwood Shopping Centre, Cheshire which raised £4,000 with around 200 

people taking part. 

 

� The inaugural South East Clay Pigeon Shoot took place at Cowdray House and raised an astonishing 

£45,000.  Our thanks go to all those involved but particularly our main sponsors on the day Canter 

Fitzgerald, Workpl@ce and the Tracey family. 

 

� A Brain of Brainwave quiz night raised £2,000. 

 

� The London Santa Dash at Old Spitalfields Market, sponsored by Irwin Mitchell and Las Iguanas, raised 

£27,000, with 250 people taking part. 

 

� Local supporters in the Essex area took part in a large number of community events, including 17 people 

who participated in a roof walk over the O2 Arena in April. 

 

� A ball held in November by Duerr’s Jams raised £55,000 for Brainwave. 

 

National Challenge events also contributed significantly, with 11 runners in this year’s London Marathon raising 

over £21,000, 14 runners in the Royal Parks Half Marathon raising £8,000, as well as many participants in other 

running events, and events such as the Wales Velothon, the Berlin Marathon and the Bear Grylls Survival Race. 

 

We are indebted to all the members of the London Development Group and the North West Development Group 

for their proactive involvement and support throughout 2016.  Their commitment and encouragement has made 

a huge difference. 

 

We would not be able to run all these events without the help of all those groups and individuals that took part 

or helped with the organisation of them, and we are very appreciative of this and the difference it makes to the 

Brainwave families. 

 

Raffle 

 

The Charity ran another national raffle over the summer which raised £4,223 thanks to the efforts of the staff, 

Trustees, supporters and current and past families who all sold tickets.  We are grateful to Friend Computers, 

who donated a prize for the raffle.   

 

Retail Charity Shops  

 

Our portfolio of 26 shops raised £224,636 of net income towards the costs of our therapy work.  

 

Our shops continue to be a major source of unrestricted funds for the Charity, as well being excellent 

ambassadors.  We run them as traditional charity shops relying solely on donations of goods and the Charity is 

grateful to the many individuals and companies who have donated generously during the year.  Particular thanks 

are due to over 600 hardworking volunteers who help run the shops, without whom we could not operate.   

 

In order to provide the infrastructure for future expansion, and to enable more efficient delivery routings, the 

Retail Distribution Centre and offices were moved from Beaminster in Dorset to Ilton in Somerset in August 

2014.  The transfer of work between the two locations was completed on time and to budget, thanks to sterling 
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work from the Retail Centre staff.  The result of this move in 2016 has been much improved logistics, with 

savings on fuel and labour, improved service to the shops, and improved turnover of stock from a more 

appropriate warehouse layout.  This increased efficiency has also enabled the Retail Centre team to expand upon 

the range of goods offered for sale in our shops to include more furniture, nursery items and PAT tested 

electricals.  The improved service and increase in higher priced donations sold in our stores has in turn enabled 

our shops to increase the income from Gift Aid on previous years, however these improvements were offset by 

difficulties in the high street economy, particularly in our Seaton and Honiton shops which closed in April and 

October 2016. 

 

The Retail Centre also plays a key role in community fundraising, raising local awareness and maximising non 

shop sales through local auctions and recycling.  The Charity recycles a wide range of items including clothing, 

electrical products, metal, glass, china and books.  Unfortunately income from recycling is much reduced from 

previous years, due to a large fall in the market prices available, and the withdrawal of recycling credits by all 

local authorities. 

 

During 2016 we opened new shops in Taunton and Minehead, two major Somerset towns, to further maximise 

income opportunities whilst closing our Seaton and Honiton stores to minimise known loss making expenditure.  

We also continued to invest in our existing shops, including redecoration and new display units and recruited 

additional support for the Retail Management Team to maximise use of sales and floor space, and store opening 

hours.  Combined, the shops produced a gross income of £1,370,291, with a net contribution of £224,636 

towards funding our charitable activities.  It is encouraging that the net return of 16p in every £ of was in line 

with budget. 

 

For a full list of the shops please see page 20. 

 

Marketing and Awareness 

 

During 2016 Brainwave has continued to look for opportunities to raise its profile, at both national and local 

levels.  We redesigned the website and launched the new version in September 2016.  There was an immediate 

increase in traffic to the site leading to a dramatic increase in the number of enquiries from families.  Social 

media is becoming ever more significant, and Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn are important parts of our 

communication strategy.  

 

In order to support the marketing activities Brainwave continues to recruit Ambassadors who will act as a voice 

for the Charity.  We now have 48 Brainwave Ambassadors including our celebrity Ambassadors such as the 

Paralympic fencer Adrian Derbyshire, Rugby League International Ryan Atkins, celebrity chef Aiden Byrne and 

the actor Ben-Ryan Davies of Waterloo Road.   

 

We were delighted to announce during 2016 that Lord and Lady Fellowes had agreed to become Patrons of 

Brainwave.  The Fellowes have supported the Charity’s fundraising efforts over the last 12 months and have 

visited the therapy centre in Somerset, where they met a number of families who have benefited from 

Brainwaves therapy programmes.  We look forward to working with them both in the future and are extremely 

proud that they feel able to support Brainwave in this way.  Our thanks go to Andrew Castle who retired as a 

Patron of Brainwave during 2016. 

 

Financial Results for the Year   

 

Total gross income for the year was £2,948,142, which is up 2.7% from 2015.  The net deficit for the year 

was £175,320.  Total voluntary income at £1,354,753 was £91,454 above 2015, which is an encouraging 

trend.  However, this increased income was raised at an extra cost, which means that the proportion 

applied to charitable purposes in the year was 51p compared to 55p in 2015.  Legacy income fell from 

£5,500 to £2,500 but inevitably legacies are unpredictable.  We continue to promote legacy giving as part 

of our overall portfolio. 
 

The Charity is building on its calendar of events, a number of which now have a very positive track record with 

donors and are reliably and enthusiastically supported.  Investment in marathons and other running events is 

proving very valuable although the cost of places is very high.   
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The turnover of the retail shops was down slightly in 2016 at £1,362,384, partly as a result of the severe fall in 

recycling income.  New shops were opened in Taunton and Minehead and the efficiency savings of the move to 

the Retail Centre at Ilminster helped to control the running costs.  The shops in Seaton and Honiton had to be 

closed as a result of the difficulties experienced in the retail economy in those towns.          

 

Net, the retail shops contributed £224,636 to charitable purposes being 16p in the pound. During the year a 

number of local councils decided to remove the discretionary rate relief of 20% which increased our costs 

significantly during 2016.  We continue to scrutinise the organisation of the retail arm of the Charity and look to 

lower overheads wherever we can and through efforts to increase Gift Aid we hope to continue to improve 

margins in 2017 and beyond. 

 

The balance sheet remains healthy with net current assets of £693,500.  In terms of stock valuation, the value of 

the goods donated to the Charity shops is recognised at fair value at the point of receipt, being sales price less 

costs incurred to sell the item. 

 

Total unrestricted funds including revaluation reserves were £516,814, which is a significant fall from 30 

November 2015 when total unrestricted funds were £826,588.   

 

In addition, Brainwave has restricted cash funds of £372,237 (£233,086 in 2015).  These are ring fenced 

donations that have been given for specific purposes and may not be spent on other activities.  These cash funds 

included: 

 

� £118,597 for Guardianships, bursaries and child sponsorship.  (2015 £111,222) 

� £12,042 for the support of the South West Centre and Hydropool. (2015 £26,094) 

� £62,966 for the support of the South East Centre.   (2015 £44,999) 

� £112,655 for the support of the North West Centre.   (2015 £1,091) 

 

Due to the likely demands on Brainwave’s resources during 2017 its reserves are in cash and have been credited 

to deposit accounts across four separate UK banking institutions. 

 

A bank loan of £500,000 was drawn down between 2009 and 2014 to cover any funding deficiencies arising 

from the cost of the strategic investment programme, primarily shop expansion.  Repayments of £141,805 have 

been made to the end of November 2016 leaving a balance of £358,195.  

 

Reserves and Investment Policy 
 

Free reserves, defined as the total of unrestricted funds less fixed assets and investments (see note 25), fell by 

£279,564 in 2016. 

 

The Trustees believe that the Charity should aim over time to establish free reserves of £500,000, because it 

considers this sum would be adequate to continue providing a consistent level of service to existing families, 

should there be a significant shortfall in income.  The Charity continues to expand fund raising activities to 

support this long term objective.   

 

   

PLANS FOR 2017 AND BEYOND 

 

As part of their planning cycle the Trustees held separate consultation meetings at each of the three permanent 

centres in Somerset, Essex and Cheshire, and a strategy day with the Senior Management Team.  The current 

medium term goal is for Brainwave to have 770 families on programme.  This target is reviewed annually in the 

light of available finances and the progress the Charity is making towards this target.   

 

In the short term, as we embark on 2017 our focus remains to secure sufficient funding for us to be able to 

support those families already following the programme and to ensure that those families wishing to join the 

programme do not face a lengthy waiting list.  A significant task for 2016 was completed by the commencement 
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of the new satellite clinics in London, which were staffed with therapists from the South East Centre.  We also 

redesigned and launched the new website giving us a stronger internet presence.   

 

We will continue with these projects in order to meet our objectives.  We will continue to invest in our retail 

arm and we will also strive to increase the number of Guardians that are directly supporting children on 

programme. 

 

As funds allow, we will recruit suitably qualified professional staff in various therapy disciplines and ensure that 

all therapy staff receive appropriate training to support their continuous professional development.  We are 

committed to engaging proactively with the NHS, especially those departments and staff working with children 

who are following the Brainwave Programme.  Above all the Trustees are committed to providing the best 

possible service to the families attending each of the Brainwave Centres and satellite clinics.  

 

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE & MANAGEMENT 

 

The Brainwave Centre Limited was incorporated by guarantee on 12 November 1998 (company number 

3666739).  It has no share capital and is a registered charity (number 1073238 – England and Wales, 

SC039137 – Scotland).  The guarantee of each member is limited to £1.  The governing document is the 

Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company and Members of the Board of Trustees are the 

Directors of the Company. 

 

The Brainwave Board currently consists of ten Trustees, whose details can be seen on pages 15 & 16.  Emma 

Larcombe was welcomed as a new Trustee with effect from November 2015 and, in accordance with the 

Articles of Association, will offer herself for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.  Similarly, three 

Trustees are required to retire by rotation annually, and accordingly Richard Adams, Caryn Musker and Emma 

Larcombe will retire and will offer themselves for re-election. At the end of the year, Elaine Kelly indicated 

that she needed to step down from her role as Trustee due to the pressures of work and resigned on the 1
st
 of 

February, 2017. 

 

The Board meets at least five times per year and holds additional strategic planning meetings.  In addition, the 

London and North West Business Development Groups and the Friends both of the South East Centre and the 

North West Centre meet at regular intervals.   

 

The pay and remuneration for the Charity’s key management personnel is set by a Remuneration Committee 

which is made up of the Chairman, the Vice Chairman and one other member of the Trustee Board.  They meet 

each year to discuss the salaries of the Chief Executive and remainder of the Senior Management Team.  The 

pay structure of the Management Team is based on the scale used by the NHS known as the Agenda for 

Change.  Management positions under the NHS are regarded as Band 8 on the Agenda for Change Pay Band, 

and this is used as a benchmark for the salaries of the Senior Management Team. 

 

Auriana Griffiths of Irwin Mitchell, who is Chair of the London Development Group, has been on maternity 

leave so Georgie Collins of Irwin Mitchell has acted as her replacement and has done an excellent job.  The 

Medical Advisory Group meets once a year to advise the Trustees on medical matters. 

 

The Board of Trustees is responsible for the appointment of additional Trustees, and in doing so seeks 

individuals with appropriate experience and interest to provide the Board with the necessary range of skills and 

outlook.  On appointment, each new Trustee meets with the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and follows 

a formal induction procedure.  Appropriate Charity Commission booklets, a copy of the vision statement, 

business plan and budgets are provided and discussed.   

 

The Brainwave Trustees delegate operational management of the Charity to the Chief Executive Officer, Phil 

Edge, who reports on performance against the strategic and operational plans approved by the Trustees.  

Management information, which includes a scorecard reflecting activities across the Charity, is prepared 

monthly and presented at each Board Meeting.   

 

The Trustees are very grateful for the patronage of the Charity’s President, HRH The Countess of Wessex 

GCVO, Vice Presidents and Patrons, whose generous support has been much appreciated during the year.   
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Risk Management 

 

The Board of Trustees has reviewed during the year an assessment of the risks to which the Charity is exposed. 

The highest priority risks identified fall broadly into the following categories: 

 

• Management competency 

• Financial stability and controls 

• Policy setting and implementation 

• Change management 

• Governance 

• Operational services 

 

The Board has introduced procedures and reporting regimes to manage and reduce the identified risks.  The 

Trustees determined that the risk register should be reviewed in advance of the business plan and agreed clear 

lines of delegation and authority to staff.  This is formally reviewed once a year. 

 

The Trustees have considered the risks to the Charity of the planned building project for the new Hinckley Point 

nuclear power station close to Bridgwater.  The major traffic congestion which is likely to arise from this over 

the period of the project could cause a number of difficulties for all businesses in the Bridgwater area.  At 

present these risks are unquantifiable, and mitigating action hard to formulate, but the Trustees review this risk 

regularly. 

 

Financial viability is essential if Brainwave is to deliver its expanded provision in the years to come.  

Insufficient income generation remains a significant risk.  The Trustees will continue to review the income 

streams in order to meet the strategic growth targets of the Charity.  The management team review the accounts 

and reserves monthly. 

 

The current financial climate is putting pressures on many families.  There have been an increasing number of 

families asking for help, and this has put escalating demands on the bursary fund for covering a family’s 

programme costs.  It will therefore be key over this next year to ensure that donations are acquired for this fund 

as well as to increase the number of Guardians to support the families of individual children who are the most in 

need of financial help.  

 

Management & Staffing 

 

The Chief Executive Officer, Phil Edge, has responsibility for planning and developing the services and 

strategies for Brainwave within clear policies and protocols set by the Trustees.  He ensures that the staff team 

is recruited and supported to provide the skills and expertise needed to run a successful organisation and that the 

equal opportunities policy of the Charity is observed. The following members of the Senior Management Team 

directly report to him: 

 

• Carl Puzey is Head of Therapy and has operational responsibility for the delivery of appropriate 

therapeutic interventions of all the children who attend the Brainwave Centres and satellite clinics. 

 

• Andrew Dillamore is Head of Finance and Administration and has operational responsibility for the 

Group’s accounting, HR and administration functions.  

 

• Barry Upfold is Head of Retail, South West Fundraising, Communications, Database Management & IT 

and has responsibility for the charity shops, South West Fundraising and Group Information Technology.  

 

• Karen Betancourt-Jess is Head of Philanthropy and Partnerships and has responsibility for fundraising in 

London and the South East. 
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• Richard Clarke was Head of Regional Fundraising and responsible for fundraising in the North of 

England.  Richard left his post in July 2016.   

 

The Trustees would like to place on record their thanks to Andrew Glass, who retired in March 2016 after serving 

as Head of Finance and Administration for Brainwave for 13 years. 

 

During 2015/2016, the Charity employed 22 full time equivalent (FTE) staff in therapy services and family 

support. There were 10 FTE support staff involved with finance, administration, site maintenance and 

manufacturing therapy equipment and 14 FTE staff working on income generation. 

 

Shops employed 38 FTE staff and over 600 unpaid volunteers. A further 100 volunteers help with other income 

generation activities, as well as with many other areas of practical help. 

 

During 2016 three physiotherapy students from the University of the West of England attended the South West 

Centre, and one physiotherapy student attended the North West Centre from the Manchester Metropolitan 

University, as part of their training placements. 

 

Equal Opportunities 

 

The Charity has an equal opportunities policy for both staff and families on programme.  The latter translates 

into offering assessments to a child irrespective of their family’s financial means, sexual orientation, colour, 

race or creed, subject to the normal constraints of available resources. 

 

 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE TRUSTEES 

 

The trustees (who are also the directors of The Brainwave Centre Limited for the purposes of company law) are 

responsible for preparing the Trustees' report and the financial statements in accordance with the United 

Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law 

and regulations. 

 

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law 

the trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 

view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of 

resources, including its income and expenditure, for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the 

trustees are required to: 

 

• select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 

• observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

charitable company will continue in business. 

 

The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 

charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of 

the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 

2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking 

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included 

on the charity's website in accordance with legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 

dissemination of financial statements. 

 

The Board of Trustees, who are directors for the purpose of company law and trustees for the purpose of 

charity law, who served during the year and up to the date of this report are set out on pages 15 & 16. 
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In accordance with company law, as the Company’s Directors, we certify that: 

 

� so far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are 

unaware; 

and 

 

� as directors of the company we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make 

ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Charity’s auditors are aware 

of that information. 

 

AUDITORS 

 

A resolution will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting that Milsted Langdon LLP be reappointed as 

auditors to the Charity for the ensuing year. 

 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) - (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006. 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 

The Board wishes to record its deep appreciation of the generosity of many supporters and of the time given so 

willingly by so many volunteers.  Brainwave has also benefitted from help from companies, local authorities and 

individuals in the form of gifts in kind, preferential rents and partial relief from business rates.  These all add 

greatly to the work Brainwave is able to achieve with the children on its programme. 

 

 

By order of the Board 

 

 
 

 

Martin Jackson, FCA, Chairman 

 

14 March 2017 
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

The Members of the Board of Trustees, who have been Members throughout the year unless otherwise stated, 

are shown below: 

 

Martin Jackson - joined the Board 13 January 2004 and appointed Chairman 10 December 2004 

 

Martin was Group Finance Director of Friends Provident Plc, a FTSE 100 life and pensions and asset 

management group, between 1999 and 2003. He was previously Group Finance Director at London & 

Manchester Group Plc from 1992 to 1998 up to the date of its acquisition by Friends Provident. Martin is a 

Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants. He is married with a son and daughter and lives in Devon. 

 

Richard Adams (Deputy Chairman) - joined the Board 7 December 1992 

 

Richard is retired but was formerly Managing Director of a company based in Bridgwater that designs and 

manufactures plastic packaging, predominantly for the food industry. Richard is married with two daughters and 

lives in Somerset. 

 

Philip Austin - joined the Board 23 November 2000 

 

Philip is a Business Analyst with broad sector experience. Philip has undertaken management roles at UBS, 

Chase Manhattan Bank and Citicorp. He is married with young children and lives in Middlesex. 

 

Graham Blower - joined the Board 26 July 2002.   

 

Graham and his late wife Andrea have many years of personal experience using Brainwave therapy 

programmes. Before starting a family, Andrea was a Nursing Sister and Hospital Manager. Graham is a 

Chartered Accountant and Barrister who specialised in taxation. Andrea continued to serve as a Trustee until 

shortly before she died, in August 2015. Graham remains committed to working with the Charity. 

 

Mike Giblin – joined the Board 6 November 2009 

 

Mike is Managing Director of Whyteleaf Consultants. Mike is married with three adult children and lives in 

Buckinghamshire. 

 

Mike Clarke – joined the Board 17 June 2010 

 

Mike is the Head of Investor Services in EMEA for CBRE Global Investors, a leading property fund 

management business. He has 29 years’ experience in the property industry both in the UK and internationally. 

He lives in Buckinghamshire with his wife and two daughters. 

 

Barrie Crow - joined the Board 14 May 2012 

 

Barrie is a retired businessman who has been a non-executive Director on both Somerset coast PCT (was also 

Chair of the Audit Committee) and Somerset Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.  He is now elected to the 

Board of Governors for Somerset NHS Foundation Trust for the Constituency of Sedgemoor.  He was 

previously a District Councillor for Sedgemoor and was a member of the Management Committee of 

Homestart.  Currently, Barrie is a Parish Councillor and a Justice of the Peace.   

 

Caryn Musker – joined the Board 13 May 2013 

 

Caryn has run her own executive recruitment consultancy, Ashton Gray, since 2004 and previously held senior 

HR roles with Grant Thornton.  She is a Chartered Member of the Chartered Institute of Personnel & 

Development.  She has recently been appointed as a Governor of King Edward VI School in Southampton.  She 

is married with a son and daughter and lives in Hampshire.   
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Elaine Kelly– joined the Board 25 February 2014 

 

Elaine has over 10 years’ of experience in accountancy and a loyal client base with growing businesses. Elaine’s 

current role as Head of Practice Solutions in ClearSky, (part of the Optionis Group), means she manages a team 

of 40 people and runs the operational part of SME. Outside of work Elaine runs a social club for adults with 

learning disabilities. 

 

Elaine resigned her position on the 1
st
 of February, 2017. 

 

Emma Larcombe – joined the Board in November 2015 

 

Emma is a Chartered Public Finance Accountant with over 10 years’ experience of accountancy and audit 

within the Public Sector.  Emma is currently a Senior Audit Manager at KPMG UK LLP working with clients 

across a number of public sector organisations including Housing, Health, Charities and Local Government 

delivering both internal and external audit services.  Emma lives in Witham with her husband and daughter. 

 

All of the above Trustees were Directors of the Company for the whole of the 2015/16 financial year, except as 

otherwise indicated. 

 
The Trustees are very grateful for the patronage of the Charity’s President, Vice Presidents and Patrons, whose 

generous support has been much appreciated during the year. 
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PRESIDENT 

 

Her Royal Highness The Countess of Wessex GCVO 

 

 

VICE PRESIDENTS 

 

The Rt Hon The Lord King of Bridgwater CH 

 

Major General Sir Christopher Airy KCVO CBE 

 

Dame Jane Whiteley DBE 

 

Lady Gass DCVO 

 

 

PATRONS 

 

The Lady Fellowes of West Stafford LVO 

 

The Lord Fellowes of West Stafford DL 

 

Sir Ranulph Fiennes BT OBE 

 

Mr Tony Bullimore 

 

Dr Michael Smith 

 

Mr Olly Murs 

 

 

MEDICAL ADVISORY GROUP 

 

Barrie Crow    Trustee, Brainwave  

 

Carolyn Nation MSc MCSP  Orthopaedic Assessment Services & Podiatry Surgery Manager 

 

Dr Rob Stenner MSc MCSP  Consultant Physiotherapist 

 

Mark Tighe BM MRCPCH Consultant Paediatrician 

 

Phil Edge   CEO, Brainwave 

 

Carl Puzey   Head of Therapy, Brainwave 

 

Dawn Chance   Lead Physiotherapist, Brainwave South West 
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OTHER INFORMATION AND ADVISORS 

 

 

Solicitors Foot Anstey LLP 

 The Quad 
 Blackbrook Avenue 

 Blackbrook Business Park 
 Taunton 
 Somerset 

 TA1 2PX 
 
 Andrew Rugg 

 5 Hammet Street 
 Taunton 

 Somerset TA1 1RZ 
 
 
Auditors Milsted Langdon LLP 

 Winchester House 
 Deane Gate Avenue 
 Taunton 
 Somerset TA1 2UH 
 
 
Bankers Lloyds TSB plc 

 25 Cornhill 
 Bridgwater 
 Somerset TA3 3AY 
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Principal and registered office: 

 

The Brainwave Centre Ltd, Marsh Lane, Huntworth Gate, Bridgwater, Somerset, TA6 6LQ 

 

Tel: 01278 429089 Fax: 01278 429622 Email: enquiries@brainwave.org.uk  

 

Website: www.brainwave.org.uk 

 

 

South West Centre, Marsh Lane, Huntworth Gate, Bridgwater, Somerset, TA6 6LQ 

 

Tel: 01278 429089 Fax: 01278 429622 Email: enquiries@brainwave.org.uk 

 

 

South East Centre, Beechen House, Rear of 16 Newland Street, Witham, Essex, CM8 2AQ 

 

Tel: 01376 505290/503608 Email: enquiriesse@brainwave.org.uk 

 

 

North West Centre, Unit 602, Birchwood One Business Park, Dewhurst Road, Birchwood, Warrington, 

Cheshire, WA3 7GB 

 

Tel: 01925 825547 Email: enquiriesnw@brainwave.org.uk 

 

 

Brainwave Retail Centre, Unit 23-24, Ilton Business Park, Ilton, Ilminster, Somerset, TA19 9DU 

 

Tel: 01460 53787 
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Our 26 Shops 

 

Devon 

 

Ashburton: 11 East Street, Newton Abbot, Devon TQ13 7AD Tel: 01364 652946 

Axminster: 21 West Street, Axminster, Devon EX13 5NU Tel: 01297 598022 

Buckfastleigh: 37 Fore Street, Buckfastleigh, Devon TQ11 0AA Tel: 01364 642010 

Chudleigh: 14 Fore Street, Chudleigh, Devon TQ13 0HX Tel: 07873 617181 

Crediton: 14 High Street, Crediton, Devon EX17 3AF Tel: 07934039944 

Cullompton: 10 High Street, Cullompton, Devon EX15 1AA Tel: 07724 142736 

Dawlish: Brunel Court, Richmond Place Dawlish, Devon EX7 9PL Tel: 01626 438151 

Exmouth: 28 Exeter Road, Exmouth, Devon EX8 1PP  Tel: 07716 689483 

Moretonhampstead: New Street, Moretonhampstead, Newton Abbot, Devon TQ13 8PE Tel: 01647 441250 

Paignton: 37 Palace Avenue, Paignton, Devon TQ3 3EQ Tel: 07842 617152 

Ottery St Mary: 14a Mill Street, Ottery St Mary, Devon EX11 1AD Tel: 01404 813382 

 

Dorset 
 

Beaminster: 23 Hogshill Street, Beaminster, Dorset DT8 3AE Tel: 01308 861771 

Gillingham: Unit 2, The Centre, High Street, Gillingham, Dorset SP8 4AA Tel: 07598 034157 

Stalbridge: Unit 3 Meaders, Station Road, Stalbridge, Dorset DT10 2RQ Tel: 01963 362687 

Sturminster 

Newton: 

4 Station Road, Sturminster Newton, Dorset DT10 1BA Tel: 01258 474685 

 

Somerset 

 

Bruton: 24 High Street, Bruton, Somerset BA10 0AA Tel: 01749 812995 

Crewkerne: 10 Market Street, Crewkerne, Somerset TA18 7LA Tel: 01460 929094 

Langport: Bow Street, Langport, Somerset TA10 9PW Tel: 01458 898386 

Minehead: 26 The Avenue, Minehead, Somerset TA24 5AG Tel: 01643 818160 

Somerton: 1 Lancaster House, Cox's Yard, Somerset TA11 7PR Tel: 01458 272772 

Taunton: 14-16 Bridge Street, Taunton, Somerset TA1 1UB Tel: 01823 617890 

Taunton: 2 Priorswood Place, Taunton, Somerset TA2 7JW Tel: 07593 913414 

Yeovil: 7 Princes Street, Yeovil, Somerset BA20 1EN Tel: 01935 410872 

 

Wiltshire 

 

Mere: The Waltons Building, The Square, Mere, Wiltshire BA12 6DL Tel: 01747 863432 

Melksham: Ground Floor, 5 Bank Street, Melksham, Wiltshire SN12 6LE Tel: 07858 331545 

Wilton: 7 North Street, Wilton, Wiltshire SP2 0HA Tel: 01722 238084 
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We have audited the financial statements of The Brainwave Centre Limited for the year ended 30 November 

2016, which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, Balance Sheet, Statement of Cash Flows and the 

related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law, the 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) 

- (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and republic of Ireland 

(FRS 102), the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts 

(Scotland) Regulations 2006. 

 

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s trustees, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 

of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Charity's trustees 

those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and its 

trustees as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Respective responsibilities of trustees and auditors 

 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities (set out on page 13), the trustees (who are 

also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation 

of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to 

audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International 

Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 

Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 

give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 

fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the charitable 

company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by the trustees; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In 

addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Trustees' report to identify material 

inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 

incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the 

audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 

implications for our report. 

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

- give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company's affairs as at 30 November 2016 and of its 

results for the year then ended; 

- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
 applicable to smaller entities; and 

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and

 Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 
 2006. 

 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion the information given in the Trustees' report for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
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......... continued 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 

report to you if, in our opinion: 

- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or 

- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

- certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

 

 
 

Mr Nigel Fry (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of 
Milsted Langdon LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Taunton 
 
Date: 15 March 2017  

Milsted Langdon LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006. 
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 Unrestricted    (As restated) 

 Funds   Total Total 

 Charity Unrestricted Restricted Funds Funds 

 Shops Funds Funds 2016 2015 

 

 Note £ £ £ £ £ 

 

Income and endowments from:   
Donations and legacies 2 7,907 949,050 397,796 1,354,753 1,263,299 

Charitable activities 3 - - 211,038 211,038 208,660 

Other trading activities 4 1,362,384 18,000 - 1,380,384 1,395,956 

Investments 5 - 872 - 872 1,187  

Other  - 1,095 - 1,095 1,275 

   ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- -------------- 

Total   1,370,291 969,017 608,834 2,948,142 2,870,377  

   ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- -------------- 

 

Expenditure on: 

Raising funds 6 1,145,655 658,162 - 1,803,817 1,653,800  

Charitable activities 6 - 845,265 474,380 1,319,645 1,204,702   

   ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- -------------- 

Total  1,145,655 1,503,427 474,380 3,123,462 2,858,502  

   ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- -------------- 

 

Net income/(expenditure) before 
transfers  224,636 (534,410) 134,454 (175,320) 11,875  

 

Transfers between funds  (224,636) 224,636 - - - 

   ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- -------------- 

 

Net movements in funds  - (309,774) 134,454 (175,320) 11,875   

 

Reconciliation of funds 

Total funds brought forward  - 826,588 799,200 1,625,788 1,613,913  

   ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- --------------- 

Total funds carried forward  - 516,814 933,654 1,450,468 1,625,788  

   ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- -------------- 

 

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses in the year.  All income and expenditure 

derives from continuing activities. 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 27 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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……..continued 

      (As restated) 

Note of historical cost surpluses and deficits    2016 2015 

     £ £ 

Net (outgoing)/incoming resources    (175,320) 11,875

  

Difference between a historical cost depreciation charge and the actual    

depreciation charge for the year calculated on the amount treated    1,532 1,532 

as deemed cost      

     ------------- ------------- 

Historical cost (deficit)/surplus on net movement in funds   (173,788) 13,407 

     ------------- ------------- 

  

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 27 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  (As restated) 

 2016 2015 

 Note £ £ £ £ 

Fixed assets 

Tangible assets 12  1,074,900  1,109,807 

Investments 13  2  2 

   -------------  -------------- 

   1,074,902  1,109,809 

Current assets 

Stocks 14 83,899  75,992 

Debtors 15 112,703  93,726  

Cash at bank and in hand 16 697,537  915,496  

  -------------  -------------- 

   894,139  1,085,214  

Creditors: Amounts falling due within  

one year 17 (200,639)  (211,040)  

  -------------  -------------- 

 

Net current assets   693,500  874,174 

   -------------  -------------- 

Total assets less current liabilities   1,768,402  1,983,983 

 

Creditors: Amounts falling due after 

more than one year 18  (317,934)  (358,195) 

   -------------  -------------- 

Net assets   1,450,468  1,625,788 

   -------------  -------------- 

Funds of the charity: 

 

Restricted income funds 23  933,654  799,200

   

Unrestricted funds 

Revaluation reserve  55,136  56,668  

General funds  461,678  769,920  

  -------------  -------------- 

Total unrestricted funds 23  516,814  826,588 

   -------------  -------------- 

Total funds 24  1,450,468  1,625,788 

   -------------  -------------- 

 

These accounts have been prepared in accordance with the special provisions of the Companies Act relating to 

small companies. 

 

These accounts were approved by the Trustees on 14 March 2017  

 

  

Martin Jackson, FCA, Chairman 

 

 

  

Richard Adams 

 

The notes on pages 27 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements 
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   (As restated) 

  2016 2015 

  £ £ 

Reconciliation of net movement in funds to 

net cashflow from operating activities: 
 

Net movement in funds (175,320) 11,875 

Add back depreciation charge 51,257 54,951 

Profit on fixed asset disposals (2,283) (4,340) 

Deduct interest shown in investing activities (872) (1,187) 

(Increase)/decrease in stock (7,907) 1,481 

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (18,977) 19,127 

(Decrease)/increase in creditors (12,324) 25,527 

  ---------- ---------- 

Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities  (166,426) 107,434 

  ---------- ----------  

Cash flows from investing activities: 

 

Investment income 872 1,187 

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (30,067) (36,122) 

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 16,000 20,000 

  ---------- ----------- 

Net cash used in investing activities (13,195) (14,935) 

  ---------- ----------- 

Cash flows from financing activities: 

 

Repayment of borrowing (38,338) (40,749) 

  ---------- ----------- 

Net cash used in financing activities (38,338) (40,749) 

  ---------- ----------- 

 

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (217,959) 51,750 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 December 2015 915,496 863,746 

  ---------- ----------- 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 November 2016 697,537 915,496 

  ---------- ----------- 

 

 

All of the cash flows are derived from continuing operations during the above two periods. 
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1 Accounting policies 

 

 Basis of preparation 

 

 The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 

Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) 

- (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 

Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006. 

 

The Brainwave Centre Limited meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets 

and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the 

relevant accounting policy notes. 

 

Transition to FRS 102 

 
 First time adoption of FRS 102 

 

 These financial statements are the first financial statements of The Brainwave Centre Limited prepared in 

accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 

UK and Republic of Ireland’(FRS 102) and the Charities SORP FRS102 (SORP 2015). The financial 

statements of The Brainwave Centre Limited for the year ended 30 November 2015 were prepared in 

accordance with previous Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (‘UK GAAP’) and SORP 2005.  

 

 Some of the FRS 102 recognition, measurement presentation and disclosure requirements and accounting 

policy choices differ from previous UK GAAP. Consequently, the trustees have amended certain 

accounting policies to comply with FRS 102 and SORP 2015. 

 

 Reconciliations to previous UK GAAP for the comparative figures are included in the note below.   

 

 Explanation of transition to FRS 102  

 

 It is the first year that the Charity has presented its financial statements under SORP 2015 and FRS 102. 

The following disclosures are required in the year of transition. The last financial statements prepared 

under previous UK GAAP were for the year ended 30 November 2015 and the date of transition to FRS 

102 and SORP 2015 was therefore 1 December 2014. As a consequence of adopting FRS 102 and SORP 

2015, a number of accounting policies have changed to comply with those standards.  

 

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of the transition to FRS 102 and SORP 2015 on total funds 

and net income/(expenditure) for the comparative period reported under previous UK GAAP and SORP 

2005 are given below: 

 

Reconciliation of funds 

     1 December 30 November 

     2014 2015 

     £ £ 

 

Total funds under previous UK GAAP    1,536,440 1,549,796 

Donated stock at fair value    77,473 75,992 

     -------------- -------------- 

Total funds reported under FRS 102    1,613,913 1,625,788 

    -------------- -------------- 
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........ continued 

 

Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) 

     30 November 2015 

      £ 

 
Net income/(expenditure) previously reported under UK GAAP   13,356 

Stock movement     (1,481) 

     -------------- 

Net movement in funds reported under FRS 102    11,875 

     -------------- 

 

Change in recognition of stock/donated goods 

Under previous UK GAAP the charity was not required to recognise the value of donated stock for resale 

until the stock was sold.  Under SORP 2015 the charity is required to recognise the fair value of donated 

goods for resale on receipt with the corresponding stock recognised in the balance sheet.  This has 

resulted in an increase in funds at the date of transition of £77,473 and in the prior year of £75,992. 

  

Change in recognition of land and buildings 

Under previous UK GAAP the charity had land and buildings held at valuation and had the revalued 

amount reviewed in line with UK GAAP.  Under FRS102 the charity has taken advantage of the 

transitional rules allowing the charity to bring the assets in at deemed cost and removing the requirement 

for revaluations to be performed going forward.  The deemed cost used was equal to the carrying value 

and therefore there is no adjustment to the comparatives or brought forward funds at the date of transition.  

The revaluation reserve which arose under old UK GAAP will continue to be written down by an amount 

equal to the difference in historical cost depreciation and depreciation on the deemed cost. 

 

Change in disclosure of governance costs 

Under previous UK GAAP governance costs were reported separately on the Statement of Financial 

Activities.  Under SORP 2015 governance costs are included within charitable activities and detailed in 

the notes. 

 

Going concern 

 

The trustees consider that there are no material uncertainties about the charity's ability to continue as a 

going concern nor any significant areas of uncertainty that affect the carrying value of the assets held by 

the charity. 

 

 Group financial statements 

 

 These financial statements contain information about the Charity only and do not contain consolidated 

financial information as the parent of a group. The dormant subsidiary, The Brainwave Trading 

Company Ltd, is excluded as it is not material under Section 405(2) of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

Income and endowments 

 

All income is recognised once the Charity has entitlement to the income, it is probable that the income 

will be received and the amount of the income receivable can be measured reliably. 

 

Grants receivable  

 

Income from government and other grants, whether 'capital' grants or 'revenue' grants, is recognised 

when the Charity has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the grant have 

been met, it is probable that the income will be received and the amount can be measured reliably. 
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........ continued 

 

Donations and legacies 

 

 Donations and legacies are recognised on a receivable basis when receipt is probable and the amount 

can be reliably measured. No gifts in kind were received during the year (2015 – £Nil). 

 

Donations received that the donor specifies as being as funding for a child's programme is allocated 

20% to a restricted fund towards the parent's contributions, and 80% to the general funds towards the 

balance of the costs of the assessments. 

 

Deferred income 
Deferred income represents amounts received for future periods and is released to incoming resources in 

the period for which it has been received. Such income is only deferred when: 

  

 -  The donor specifies that the grant or donation must only be used in future accounting 

periods; or 

 

-   The donor has imposed conditions which must be met before the Charity has unconditional 

entitlement. 

 

Income from charitable activities 

 
Income from charitable trading activities is recognised when earned. 

 

Fundraising events 

 

Income from fundraising events is included in incoming resources in the period in which the relevant 

event takes place. 

 

Other trading activities 

 

The fair value of donated goods for resale is recognised on receipt with the corresponding stock 

recognised in the balance sheet. On its sale the value of the stock is charged against income and the 

proceeds of the sale recognised. 

 

Rental income in included when receivable and the amount can be reliably measured by the Charity. 

 

Investment income 

 

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be reliably measured 

by the Charity. 

 

Gift aid 

 

Income from tax reclaims are included in the Statement of Financial Activities at the same time as the 

gift to which they relate. 

 

Volunteers and donated services and facilities 

 

The value of services provided by volunteers is not incorporated into these financial statements. The 

services of volunteers makes an important contribution, which is difficult to quantify in financial terms.  

 

Where services are provided to the Charity as a donation that would normally be purchased from our 

suppliers, this contribution is included in the financial statements at an estimate based on the value of 

the contributions to the Charity whenever the value exceeds £1,000. 
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 ......... continued 

 

Expenditure 

 

All expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to that expenditure, it is 

probable settlement is required and the amount can be measured reliably. All costs are allocated to the 

applicable expenditure heading that aggregate similar costs to that category. Where costs cannot be 

directly attributed to particular headings they have been allocated on a basis consistent with the use of 

resources, with central staff costs allocated on the basis of time spent, and depreciation charges 

allocated on the portion of the assets' use.  

 

Raising funds  
 

Costs of raising funds are those costs incurred in attracting voluntary income, the management of 

investments and those incurred in trading activities that raise funds. 

 

Charitable activities 

 

Charitable expenditure comprises those costs incurred by the charity in the delivery of its activities and 

services for its beneficiaries. It includes both costs that can be allocated directly to such activities and 

those costs of an indirect nature necessary to support them. 

 

Governance costs include those costs incurred associated with meeting the constitutional and statutory 

requirements of the Charity and includes the audit fees and costs linked to the strategic management of 

the Charity.   

 

Support costs include central functions and have been allocated to activity cost categories on a basis 

consistent with the use of resources, e.g. per capita, staff costs by the time spent and other costs by their 

usage. 

 

  Irrecoverable VAT 

 

 All resources expended are classified under activity headings that aggregate all costs related to the 

category. Irrecoverable VAT is charged against the category of resources expended for which it was 

incurred. 

 

 Fixed assets 
 

 Individual fixed assets costing £1,000 or more are initially recorded at cost. 

 

 Desktop computer equipment is not capitalised as the trustees believe the useful life of such items is too 

short. Major computer software investment in excess of £5,000 is capitalised at cost. They have also 

implemented a policy of completing regular impairment reviews of fixed assets.  An impairment review 

aims to ensure that fixed assets are recorded in the financial statements at no more than their recoverable 

amount.  The trustees are not aware of any material changes in valuation since the last impairment 

review in 1999 and there are no indicators of impairment. 

 
 Freehold land and buildings are stated at deemed cost at transition to FRS 102, plus additions at cost. 

Other fixed assets are stated at their purchase cost, together with any incidental expenses of acquisition 

or at valuation. 
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......... continued 

 

Depreciation  

 

 Depreciation is provided on tangible fixed assets so as to write off the cost or valuation, less any 

estimated residual value, over their expected useful economic life as follows: 

 

 Land Nil 

 Freehold buildings 2% straight line 
 Clinic and sundry plant and equipment 15% - 30% reducing balance 

 Fixtures and fittings 15% reducing balance 
 Motor vehicles 25% reducing balance 
 Computer equipment 50% reducing balance 

 Computer software 25% straight line 
  

 Stocks 

   

 Stocks are included at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

 

 Donated items of stock are recognised at fair value which is the amount the charity would have been 

willing to pay for the items on the open market. 

 

 Debtors 

 

Debtors are amounts due from clients for services performed in the ordinary course of the charities 

activities. 

 

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered.  

Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due. 

 

Cash at bank and in hand 

 

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a short maturity of 

three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account. 

 

Creditors and provisions 

 

Creditors and provisions are recognised where the charity has a present obligation resulting from a past 

event that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the 

obligation can be measured or estimated reliably.  Creditors are normally recognised at their settlement 

amount after allowing for any trade discounts due. 

 

 Fund accounting 
 

 The Charity has a number of restricted income funds to account for situations where a donor requires that 

a  donation must be spent on a particular purpose or where funds have been raised for a specific purpose. 

 

 All other funds are unrestricted income funds. These funds are available for use at the discretion of the 

trustees in furtherance of the general objects of the Charity.  Unrestricted funds include a revaluation 

reserve representing the historic restatement of freehold land and buildings at market value. On transition 

to FRS 102, these assets have been brought in at deemed cost. 

 
 Further details of each fund are disclosed in note 23. 
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......... continued 

 

Operating leases  

 

Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards are retained by the lessor are classified as 

operating leases. 

 

 Rental payments under operating leases are charged against income on a straight line basis over the 

lease term. 

 

 Financial instruments 

 
 The Charity only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial 

instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially recorded at transaction value and subsequently 

measured at the carrying value plus accrued interest less repayments. The financing charge to expenditure 

is at a constant rate calculated using the effective interest method.  

 

Pensions 

 

The Charity provides an auto-enrolment scheme for staff. All employees are entitled to join the new 

scheme and will receive the appropriate company contributions, in line with the auto-enrolment 

legislation. The pension charge recorded in these accounts is the amount of contributions payable in the 

accounting year (see note 22). 

 

 Foreign currencies 

 

 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rates 

of exchange prevailing at the accounting date. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the 

date of the transactions. All differences are taken to the Statement of Financial Activities. 

 

 Taxation 

 

 The Brainwave Centre Limited is considered to pass the tests set out in paragraph 1, Schedule 6, Finance 

Act 2010 and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for corporation tax purposes. 

Accordingly the Charity is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains 

received within the categories covered by Chapter 3, Part 11, Corporation Taxes Act 2010 or section 256 

of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied 

exclusively to charitable purposes.  

 

 

2 Income from donations and legacies 
 

      (As restated) 

  Unrestricted Unrestricted Restricted Total Funds Total Funds 

  Charity Shops Other Funds Funds 2016 2015 

  £ £ £ £ £ 
 

 Donations and gifts 7,907 947,050 397,296 1,352,253 1,257,799 

 Legacies - 2,000 500 2,500 5,500 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 7,907 949,050 397,796 1,354,753 1,263,299 

 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 

The income from donations and legacies was £1,354,753 (2015: £1,263,299) of which £956,957 was 

unrestricted (2015: £904,427) and £397,796 was restricted (2015: £358,872). 

  



The Brainwave Centre Limited  

 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 November 2016 

 

 

   

 

Page 33 

 

........ continued 

 

3 Income from charitable activities 

       

  Unrestricted Unrestricted Restricted Total Funds Total Funds 

  Charity Shops Other Funds Funds 2016 2015 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

 

 Assessment income - - 141,513 141,513 134,641 

 Hydrotherapy income - - 55,045 55,045 58,944 

 Accommodation income - - 14,480 14,480 15,075 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

  - - 211,038 211,038 208,660 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 

The income from charitable activities was £211,038 (2015: £208,660) of which £Nil was unrestricted (2015: 

£Nil) and £211,038 was restricted (2015: £208,660). 

 

 

4 Income from other trading activities  

  

  Unrestricted Unrestricted Restricted Total Funds Total Funds 

  Charity Shops Other Funds Funds 2016 2015 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

 

 Charity shop sales 1,362,384 - - 1,362,384 1,377,956 

 Rent - 18,000 - 18,000 18,000 

 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 1,362,384 18,000 - 1,380,384 1,395,956 

 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 

The income from other trading activities was £1,380,384 (2015: £1,395,956) of which £1,380,384 was 

unrestricted (2015: £1,395,956) and £Nil was restricted (2015: £Nil). 

 

 

5 Investment income  

  

  Unrestricted Unrestricted Restricted Total Funds Total Funds 

  Charity Shops Other Funds Funds 2016 2015 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

 

 Interest - 872 - 872 1,187 

 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

  

The income from investments was £872 (2015: £1,187) of which £872 was unrestricted (2015: £1,187) and 

£Nil was restricted (2015: £Nil). 
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6 Expenditure 

  Unrestricted Unrestricted Restricted  Total Total 

  Charity Shops Other Funds Funds 2016 2015 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

 Raising funds 

 Fundraising expenses - 658,162 - 658,162 572,920 

 Charity shops 1,145,655 - - 1,145,655 1,080,880 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------

  1,145,655 658,162 - 1,803,817 1,653,800 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 

The expenditure on raising funds was £1,803,817 (2015: £1,653,800) of which £1,803,817 was unrestricted 

(2015: £1,653,800) and £Nil was restricted (2015: £Nil). 

 

 Charitable activities 
 South West Centre and satellite 

 clinics - 262,720 276,117 538,837 505,996

 South East Centre - 219,442 106,795 326,237 270,921 

 North West Centre - 210,504 77,718 288,222 271,237 

 Home & regional support - 48,098 13,750 61,848 62,151 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------

  - 740,764 474,380 1,215,144 1,110,305

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------

 Governance 

 Legal and professional - 4,352 - 4,352 2,268 

 Audit and accountancy (note 11) - 8,400 - 8,400 6,870 

 Staff costs - 69,895 - 69,895 65,131 

 Support costs - 21,854 - 21,854 20,128

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------

  - 104,501 - 104,501 94,397

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 

 

   -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------

 Total  - 845,265 474,380 1,319,645 1,204,702

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 

The expenditure on charitable activities was £1,319,645 (2015: £1,204,702) of which £845,265 was 

unrestricted (2015: £633,580) and £474,380 was restricted (2015: £571,122). 

 

 The Charity undertakes direct charitable activities only and does not make grant payments. 
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7 Analysis of total resources expended – current year 

 

  Staff Support Other Total Total 

  costs costs direct costs 2016 2015 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

 Raising funds 

 Fundraising expenses 452,875 16,319 188,968 658,162 572,920 

 Charity shops 696,487 9,615 439,553 1,145,655 1,080,880 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------

  1,149,362 25,934 628,521 1,803,817 1,653,800 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 

 Charitable activities 

 South West Centre and satellite 

 clinics 365,550 62,990 110,298 538,838 505,996

 South East Centre 209,068 10,215 106,954 326,237 270,921 

 North West Centre 189,137 8,800 90,284 288,221 271,237 

 Home & regional support 54,614 1,871 5,363 61,848 62,151 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

  818,369 83,876 312,899 1,215,144 1,110,305

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------

 Governance (Note 6) 69,895 21,854 12,752 104,501 94,397

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 

 Analysis of total resources expended – prior year 

 

  Staff Support Other Total Total 

  costs costs direct costs 2015 2014 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

 Raising funds 

 Fundraising expenses 388,259 15,301 169,360 572,920 560,561 

 Charity shops 671,510 9,509 399,861 1,080,880 1,076,558 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------

  1,059,769 24,810 569,221 1,653,800 1,637,119 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 

 Charitable activities 
 South West Centre and satellite 

 clinics 346,246 54,980 104,770 505,996 583,521

 South East Centre 162,049 10,354 98,518 270,921 282,950 

 North West Centre 185,052 9,029 77,156 271,237 287,721 

 Home & regional support 54,788 2,000 5,363 62,151 59,868 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

  748,135 76,363 285,807 1,110,305 1,214,060

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------

 Governance (Note 6) 65,131 20,128 9,138 94,397 92,278

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 
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8 Allocation of support 

 The Charity allocates its support costs as shown in the table below and then apportions those costs between 

the charitable activities undertaken (see note 7).  Support costs are allocated on a basis consistent with the use 

of resources. 

  Premises Printing & Equipment Travel and Professio- Financial Deprecia- 

 costs stationery and IT subsistence nal Fees costs tion Total

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

 Fundraising 2,807 769 1,629 1,315 - 5,861 3,938 16,319 

 Shops 3,147 862 1,826 1,475 - 1,379 926 9,615 

 SW Centre 9,161 2,509 5,314 4,294 4,824 22,066 14,822 62,990 

 SE Centre 3,157 865 1,831 1,480 - 1,724 1,158 10,215 

 NW Centre 2,796 766 1,622 1,311 - 1,379 926 8,800 

 Home support 557 153 323 261 - 345 232 1,871 

 Governance 7,119 1,950 4,130 3,337 2,436 1,724 1,158 21,854 

  ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- 

 Total 2016 28,744 7,874 16,675 13,473 7,260 34,478 23,160 131,664 

  ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- 

 Total 2015 33,242 9,140 19,993 5,831 833 32,487 19,775 121,301 

  ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- 

 

 Both the South West Centre and the North West Centre expenditure include costs incurred on the satellite 

clinics in Scotland.  The South East Centre expenditure includes costs incurred on the satellite clinics in 

London. 

 

9 Trustee remuneration and related party transactions 

 No trustee received any remuneration in the year nor was reimbursed for expenses to cover travel and 

subsistence (2015 - £nil).  No trustee or other person related to the Charity had any personal interest in any 

contract or transaction entered into by the Charity during the year (2015 - £nil). 

 

10 Employees’ remuneration 

 The average monthly head count during the year was 96 staff (2015: 92 staff).  

 The average number of persons employed by the Charity (calculated on the basis of full time equivalents) 

during the year, analysed by category, was as follows: 

  2016 2015 

  No. No. 

 Fundraising and administration 24 21 

 Charity shops 38 37 

 South West Centre 11 10 

 South East Centre 5 5 

 North West Centre 4 5 

 Home support 2 2 

  ---------- ---------- 

  84 80 

  ---------- ---------- 
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 The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows: 

 

  2016 2015 

  £ £ 
 Wages and salaries 1,756,037 1,655,550 

 Social security 140,681 127,740 

 Other pension costs  55,580 50,346 

  ------------- ------------- 

  1,952,298 1,833,636 

  ------------- --------------

 There were no employees in the current year with remuneration exceeding £60,000. 

 

 The key management personnel of the Charity comprise the trustees, the CEO and the senior management 

team.  The total employee benefits of the key management of the Charity were £278,805 (2015: £266,862). 

 

11 Net income/(expenditure) for the year 

 This is stated after charging: 2016 2015 

  £ £ 

 Depreciation 51,257 54,951 

 Profit on disposal of assets  (2,283) (4,340) 

 Auditors’ remuneration (External audit) 8,400 6,115 

 Auditors’ remuneration (other services) 863 755

 Foreign currency (gains)/losses (76) 602 

  ----------- ----------- 

 

12 Tangible fixed assets 

  Freehold land Motor Plant and Computer 

  and buildings vehicles equipment Software Total 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

 Cost  

 As at 1 December 2015 989,266 82,404 346,516 19,936 1,438,122 

 Additions 20,541 2,700 6,826 - 30,067 

 Disposal - (46,144) - - (46,144) 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 As at 30 November 2016 1,009,807 38,960 353,342 19,936 1,422,045

 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 Depreciation 

 As at 1 December 2015 - 56,683 262,164 9,468 328,315 

 Charge for the year 19,606 7,107 19,560 4,984 51,257 

 Disposal - (32,427) - - (32,427) 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 As at 30 November 2016 19,606 31,363 281,724 14,452 347,145 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 Net book value 
 As at 30 November 2016 990,201 7,597 71,618 5,484 1,074,900 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 As at 30 November 2015 989,266 25,721 84,352 10,468 1,109,807 

  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

  

 The depreciable amount included within freehold land and buildings is £959,807. 

 The freehold land and buildings are subject to a fixed charge in relation to the bank loan.  
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12 Tangible fixed assets (continued) 

 Restriction on title and pledged as security 

 Property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of £1,074,900 (2015: £1,109,807) has been pledged as 

security for all bank loans. 

 

The comparable amounts of freehold land and buildings, included above at deemed cost determined under 

the transitional arrangements of FRS102, according to the historical cost accounting rules are: 

     Total

    £ 

 Cost 
 At 1 December 2015    1,158,224 

 Additions    20,541 

     -------------- 

 At 30 November 2016    1,178,765 

     -------------- 

 Depreciation 
 At 1 December 2015    225,625 

 Charge for the year    18,074

    -------------- 

 At 30 November 2016    243,699 

     -------------- 

 Net book value 
 At 30 November 2016    935,066 

     -------------- 

 At 30 November 2015    932,599 

     -------------- 

 

13 Investments held as fixed assets 

 

     Subsidiary 

     undertaking 

     £ 

 

 Market value 

 As at 30 November 2015 and 30 November 2016    2 

     ---------------- 

 Net book value     

 As at 30 November 2015 and 30 November 2016    2 

     --------------- 

 

 

     Country of 

  Proportion of   incorporation, 

  ordinary shares  Nature of registration and 

  held Cost business operations 

   £ 

 

 The Brainwave Trading Company Limited 100% 2 Dormant England 

  



The Brainwave Centre Limited  

 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 November 2016 

 

 

   

 

Page 39 

 

......... continued 

 

14 Stocks 

     (As restated) 

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

 

 Charity shop stocks   83,899 75,992 

    ----------- ----------- 

  

 Stock with a carrying value of £83,899 (2015: £75,992) has been pledged as security for all bank loans. 

 

15 Debtors 

 

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

 
 Trade debtors   33,011 10,855 

 Other debtors and prepayments   79,692 82,871 

    ----------- ----------- 

    112,703 93,726 

    ------------ ----------- 

 

 Total current trade and other assets with a carrying value of £112,703 (2015: £93,726) has been pledged as 

security for all bank loans. 

 

16 Cash at bank and in hand 
 

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

 

 Cash at bank and in hand   697,537 915,496 

    ----------- ----------- 

  

 Cash at bank and in hand with a carrying value of £697,537 (2015: £915,496) has been pledged as security 

for all bank loans. 

 

17 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

 

 Bank and other loans   40,261 38,338 

 Trade creditors   27,640 46,253 

 Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings   1,794 1,794 

 Taxation and social security   37,561 38,906 

 Other creditors and accruals   93,383 85,749 

    ------------ ------------ 

    200,639 211,040

   ------------ ------------ 
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......... continued 
 

 Creditors amounts falling due within one year includes the following liabilities, on which security has been 

given by the charity:    

  

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

 Bank loan   40,261 38,338

   ------------ ------------ 

 

 The bank loan is secured via a fixed charge over the freehold property, the proportion of the total loan being 

£358,195 over the freehold property is 36% of net book value.  There is also a charge over all other assets of 

the charity. 

 

18 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

 

 Bank loan   317,934 358,195 

    ------------ ------------ 

 

 The bank loan is secured via a fixed charge over the freehold property, the proportion of the total loan being 

£358,195 over the freehold property is 36% of net book value.  There is also a charge over all other assets of 

the charity. 

 

 Included in the bank loan creditors are the following amounts due after more than 5 years: 

 

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

 

 After more than five years by instalments   57,303 185,614 

    ------------ ------------ 

 

19 Legal status of Charity 

 The Charity is a private company limited by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital.  Each of 

the members is liable to contribute an amount not exceeding £1 towards the assets of the Charity in the event 

of liquidation. 
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......... continued 

 

20 Loans and borrowings 

   

 Non-current loans and borrowings   2016 2015 

    £ £ 

  

 Bank borrowings   317,934 358,195 

    ----------- ----------- 

 

 Current loans and borrowings   2016 2015 

    £ £ 

  

 Bank borrowings   40,261 38,338 

    ----------- ----------- 

 

 Bank borrowings 

Bank loan 1 is denominated in GBP with a nominal fixed interest rate of 4.5% above Lloyds base rate, and 

the final instalment is due in 2021. The carrying amount at the year end is £146,294 (2015: £157,615). 

Bank loan 2 is denominated in GBP with a nominal fixed interest rate of 3.58% above Lloyds base rate, and 

the final instalment is due in 2022. The carrying amount at the year end is £128,018 (2015: £146,790). 

Bank loan 3 is denominated in GBP with a nominal fixed interest rate of 4.6% above Lloyds base rate, and 

the final instalment is due in 2024. The carrying amount at the year end is £83,883 (2015: £92,129). 

All of the above loans are secured against the following: 

A legal charge over the freehold property at Huntworth Gate, Bridgwater, Somerset in form and substance 

satisfactory to the bank. 

Fixed and floating charges over the undertaking including goodwill bookdebts, uncalled capital, fixtures, 

fixed plant and machinery.  

 

Included within the loans and borrowings are the following amounts due after more than five years: 

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

  

 After more than five years by instalments   57,303 185,614 

    ----------- ----------- 

 

 Bank loans and overdrafts after five years 

  

Bank loans 2 and 3 totalling £211,901 (2015: £238,919) due in over 5 years are repayable by instalments and 

interest is charged between 3.58% & 4.6% per annum. The bank loans are due for repayment between 6 and 

8 years from the balance sheet date and are secured by the following:  

A legal charge over the freehold property at Huntworth Gate, Bridgwater, Somerset in form and substance 

satisfactory to the bank. 

Fixed and floating charges over the undertaking including goodwill, bookdebts, uncalled capital, fixtures, 

fixed plant and machinery.   
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......... continued 
    

21 Operating lease 

 As at 30 November 2016 the Charity had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as 

follows: 

 

 Operating lease – lessee 

 

 The Charity currently has 27 shops from which it trades. All of these shops are under operating lease 

agreements, generally with between 1 and 5 years left until they expire. The South East Centre and North 

West Centre are also under operating leases with between 1 and 5 years left until they expire.  

 

 At 30 November 2016 the total future minimum lease payments the Charity had under non-cancellable 

operating leases were as follows: 

  

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

 Land and buildings 

 Within one year   229,226 326,436 

 Within two and five years   280,729 449,468 

 Over five years   - 14,592 

    ----------- ----------- 

    509,955 790,496 

    ----------- ----------- 

 

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

 Other 

 Within one year   10,157 - 

 Within two and five years   27,085 -

     

    ----------- ----------- 

    37,242 - 

    ----------- ----------- 

 

 

 Operating lease – lessor 

 

 The charity rents part of its property on a lease of £18,000 per annum expiring in 31 December 2016.  The 

lease has currently not been renewed.  

 

 At 30 November 2016 the total future minimum lease payments receivable the Charity had under non-

cancellable operating leases were as follows: 

 

    2016 2015 

    £ £ 

 Land and buildings 

 Within one year   1,500 18,000 

 Within two and five years    

   - 1,500 

    ----------- ----------- 

    1,500 19,500 

    ----------- ----------- 
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......... continued 
 

22 Pension schemes 

 

 Defined contribution pension scheme 

 The Charity operates a defined contribution pension scheme.  The pension cost charge for the period 

represents contributions payable by the Charity to the scheme and amounted to £55,580 (2015 - £50,346).  

Pension costs are allocated to activities and funds in proportion to the related staffing costs incurred. 

 

 Contributions totalling £5,270 (2015 - £5,979) remained payable to the scheme at the end of the period and 

are included in creditors. 

 

 Following the new Government pension regulations, the Charity now provides an auto-enrolment scheme for 

all staff. All employees are entitled to join the new scheme and receive the appropriate company 

contributions. 

 

 

23 Analysis of funds – current year 

   

  (As restated) 

  At 1    At 30 

  December Incoming Resources  November 

  2015 resources expended Transfers 2016 

  £  £ £ £ 

 Unrestricted funds 

 Charity Shops 

 Funds generated - 1,370,291 (1,145,655) (224,636) - 

  ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

 Other 
 Other unrestricted funds 769,920 969,017 (1,503,427) 226,168 461,678 

  

 Revaluation fund 56,668 - - (1,532) 55,136 

  ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

  826,588 969,017 (1,503,427) 224,636 516,814 

  ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

 Restricted income funds 

 Sponsorships & bursaries 111,222 93,200 (88,976) 3,151 118,597 

 General all centres 49,680 78,655 (62,358) - 65,977 

 South West Centre 15,525 160,494 (160,060) - 15,959 

 Hydrotherapy Pool 376,789 6,800 (31,491) - 352,098 

 Accommodation Units 145,281 20,541 (4,239) - 161,583 

 South East Centre  72,366 94,465 (78,601) (3,151) 85,079 

 North West Centre 28,337 154,679 (48,655) - 134,361

    

  ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

  799,200 608,834 (474,380) - 933,654 

  ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------ 
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......... continued 

 

23 Analysis of funds – prior year 

 

  (As restated)    (As restated) 

  At 1    At 30 

  December Incoming Resources  November 

  2014 resources expended Transfers 2015 

  £  £ £ £ 

 Unrestricted funds 

 Charity Shops 

 Funds generated - 1,376,475 (1,080,880) (295,595) - 

  ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

 Other 

 Other unrestricted funds 752,923 926,370 (1,206,500) 297,127 769,920 

  

 Revaluation fund 58,200 - - (1,532) 56,668 

  ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

  811,123 926,730 (1,206,500) 295,595 826,588 

  ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

 Restricted income funds 

 Sponsorships & bursaries 109,262 85,603 (86,610) 2,967 111,222 

 General all centres 72,249 135,628 (155,230) (2,967) 49,680 

 South West Centre 39,319 156,131 (179,925) - 15,525 

 Hydrotherapy Pool 371,165 30,100 (24,476) - 376,789 

 Accommodation Units 149,108 - (3,827) - 145,281 

 South East Centre  28,549 89,998 (46,181) - 72,366 

 North West Centre 33,138 70,072 (74,873) - 28,337 

  ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

  802,790 567,532 (571,122) - 799,200 

  ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

 

   

 The Revaluation fund relates in total to assets provided from unrestricted funds. 

 

 Sponsorship & bursaries – these are funds raised to provide bursaries available to families in need to assist 

with the initial assessment costs, and sponsorship funds to assist individually specified children with 

reassessment costs. 

 

 General all centres – These funds are for general equipment, salary costs, home support and the website, not 

restricted to an individual centre. 

 

 South West Centre – these funds are for equipment and activities specifically at the South West Centre. 

 

 Hydrotherapy Pool – these funds relate to the initial costs of the Hydrotherapy Pool at the South West Centre, 

and to fund the ongoing running costs. 

 

 Accommodation Units – these funds relate to the initial costs of the 5 Accommodation Units at the South 

West Centre, and to fund the ongoing running costs. 

 

South East Centre – these funds are for equipment and activities specifically at the South East Centre. 

North West Centre – these funds are for equipment and activities specifically at the North West Centre. 

Sufficient resources are held in an appropriate form to enable the funds to be applied in accordance with the 

restrictions applied. 



The Brainwave Centre Limited  

 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 November 2016 

 

 

   

 

Page 45 

 

………continued 

24 Analysis of net assets between funds – current year 

   Unrestricted Restricted  

   Funds Funds Total 2016 

   £ £ £ 

 Tangible fixed assets and investments  513,485 561,417 1,074,902 

 Other net current liabilities  (4,037) - (4,037) 

 Other non-current liabilities  (317,934) - (317,934) 

 Cash at bank and in hand  325,300 372,237 697,537 

   ------------- ------------- ------------- 

   516,814 933,654 1,450,468

  ------------- ------------- ------------ 

 Analysis of restricted funds 

   Tangible Cash at bank Balance at 30 

   fixed assets and in hand November 

     2016 

   £ £ £ 

Sponsorships & bursaries  - 118,597 118,597 

 General all centres  - 65,977 65,977 

 South West Centre  11,347 4,612 15,959 

 Hydrotherapy Pool  344,668 7,430 352,098 

 Accommodation Units  161,583 - 161,583 

 South East Centre  22,113 62,966 85,079 

 North West Centre  21,706 112,655 134,361 

    ------------- ------------- ------------- 

   561,417 372,237 933,654 

   ------------- ------------- ------------- 

 

Analysis of net assets between funds – prior year     

   Unrestricted Restricted (As restated) 

   Funds Funds Total 2015 

   £ £ £ 

 Tangible fixed assets and investments  543,695 566,114 1,109,809 

 Other net current liabilities  (41,322) - (41,322) 

 Other non-current liabilities  (358,195) - (358,195) 

 Cash at bank and in hand  682,410 233,086 915,496 

   ------------- ------------- ------------- 

   826,588 799,200 1,625,788 

   ------------- ------------- ------------ 

 Analysis of restricted funds 

   Tangible Cash at bank Balance at 30 

   fixed assets and in hand November 

     2015 

   £ £ £ 
Sponsorships & bursaries  - 111,222 111,222 

 General all centres  - 49,680 49,680 

 South West Centre  10,727 4,798 15,525 

 Hydrotherapy Pool  355,493 21,296 376,789 

 Accommodation Units  145,281 - 145,281 

 South East Centre  27,367 44,999 72,366 

 North West Centre  27,246 1,091 28,337 

    ------------- ------------- ------------- 

   566,114 233,086 799,200 

   ------------- ------------- ------------- 
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………continued 

 

25 Analysis of net assets between funds (continued) 

 Free reserves of £3,329 (2015 - £282,893) are defined as the total of unrestricted funds, excluding fixed 

assets and investments. 

 

 

26 Material legacies 

 During the year, the Charity received a legacy of £2,500 (2015 – two legacies, £5,500).  As at 30 November 

2016 the Charity was not aware of any further legacies (2015 - £nil). 

 

 

 

 


